An Ising model on a 3D honeycomb zigzag-ladder lattice: a solution to the ground-state problem

Yu. I. Dublenych $^{1,\ 2^{\ast}}$ and O. A. Petrenko 3

1 Institute for Condensed Matter Physics, National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine, 1 Svientsitskii Str., 79011 Lviv, Ukraine

2 Max Planck Institute for the Physics of Complex Systems, 38 Nöthnitzer Str., 01187 Dresden, Germany

3 Department of Physics, University of Warwick, Coventry CV4 7AL, United Kingdom * dubl@icmp.lviv.ua

August 2, 2022

Abstract

A complex, seven-parameter ground-state problem for an Ising model on a 3D honeycomb zigzag-ladder lattice, containing two types of magnetic sites, is considered in the presence of an external field using the method of basic rays and basic sets of cluster configurations. It is shown that the geometrical frustration due to the presence of triangle elements leads to the emergence of a large variety of magnetic phases, the majority of which are highly degenerate. The obtained theoretical results are used to elucidate the sequence of phase transitions in the family of rare-earth oxides with a honeycomb zigzag-ladder lattice. New phases predicted by our model and observed experimentally do not appear in previously considered simpler models for noninteracting zigzagladders.

Contents

а.

1	1 Introduction	
2	"Triangular" ground-state structures	3
	2.1 Model and method	3
	2.2 Triangular plaquettes and their energies	4
	2.3 Basic rays and basic sets of triangular plaquettes configurations	6
	2.4 Fully dimensional "triangular" phases	6
	2.5 Disorder (degeneracy) of the phases	11
	2.6 Fully dimensional "nontriangular" phases	12
	2.7 Ground-state phase diagrams in the (h_1, h_2) -plane	16
3	Application to $SrRE_2O_4$ and $BaRE_2O_4$ compounds	19
4	Conclusions	22
\mathbf{A}	Appendix: Energy of triangular plaquette configurations	22
в	Appendix: Completeness of sets of basic rays	24
Re	eferences	28



Figure 1: A honeycomb zigzag-ladder lattice comprised of two types of sites, red and blue. The coupling between the two neighboring spins along the ladder legs is J_{01} for red sites and J_{02} for blue sites. The spin coupling along ladder rungs is J_{11} and J_{12} for the red and blue sites, respectively, while the coupling between red and blue neighboring sites is J_2 . The external field for the two sites is represented by h_1 and h_2 . This magnetic lattice is found, for example, in the SrRE₂O₄ compounds [1] for which the orange box represents a crystallographic unit cell.

1 Introduction

Geometrically frustrated magnets, due to richness of their magnetic structures and behaviors, have been among the most intensively studied objects in the physics of magnetism and magnetic materials over the past several decades. Their theoretical description is a rather difficult task, especially in the case when quantum effects are essential. However, among frustrated magnets, there are many compounds with large-moment magnetic atoms. Often, these magnets can be well described with classical, either Heisenberg or Ising spin models, depending on the presence of strong crystal-field effects.

In this paper, we study geometrically frustrated magnets with magnetic atoms carrying large spins. These are 3D honeycomb zigzag-ladder magnets such as $SrRE_2O_4$ [1,2] and $BaRE_2O_4$ [3–6], where RE is a rare earth atom. These families of compounds exhibit a very rich magnetic behavior, especially in an external magnetic field [7–15]. Rare earth magnetic atoms in these compounds occupy two crystallographically inequivalent positions with substantially different values of magnetic moments (which can be considered as classical) and, very often, almost orthogonal directions of easy-axis magnetization.

One of the most important experimental and theoretical challenges is to determine the magnetic structures of these magnets in an external magnetic field at low temperature. If an appropriate Hamiltonian is established, then one can try to solve the ground-state problem. This is difficult, even for rather simple classical Hamiltonians and, although

several methods have been developed [16–27], in particular the method of geometric inequalities by J. Kanamori and M. Kaburagi [20,21], no general algorithm exists to obtain the ground-state phase diagrams.

To appropriately describe the honeycomb zigzag-ladder magnets with strong magnetic anisotropy, we consider an Ising-like Hamiltonian with seven parameters (see Fig. 1). Since we deal with two types of spins, and the direction of the external field is arbitrary, two, rather than one, external field parameter needed to be introduced. Although we refer to spins throughout the text, one has to keep in mind that the orbital contribution to the magnetic moments is significant in almost all $SrRE_2O_4$ and $BaRE_2O_4$ compounds.

The ground-state problem for Ising-like Hamiltonians can be solved by using the method of basic rays and basic sets of cluster configurations [28-32]. This is the only method that gives the complete solution for a ground-state problem of Ising-like Hamiltonians, i.e., all the ground-state structures in every point of Hamiltonian parameter space. In the previous studies by one of the authors, this method was mostly used to rigorously prove the completeness of solutions [28, 31, 32]. Here, we use the method as a tool for finding a solution to the ground-state problem for an Ising model on a honeycomb zigzagladder lattice with two types of sites. Although we restrict our considerations to the smallest clusters (triangular plaquettes) the problem is rather complex because there are four types of such plaquettes with six configurations for each type. We have found 22 basic rays (edges of ground-state regions in the parameter space), but this is not a complete set - to determine all the basic rays, larger clusters should be considered. It might be possible to eventually establish a complete solution for this ground-state problem using an advanced, specially developed software package, however, even the incomplete solution found here sheds light on the sequence of magnetic transitions observed in the honeycomb zigzag-ladder magnets in the $SrRE_2O_4$ and $BaRE_2O_4$ families. Due to strong crystal-field effects, the magnetic moments in several members of these families demonstrate Ising-like behaviour with the easy-axes directions varying from one rare-earth site to another, which makes them a good fit to the model considered.

The paper is organized as follows. Subsection 2.1 of Section 2 gives a description of the model under consideration and the cluster method used. In Subsection 2.2, triangular plaquettes and their spin configurations are introduced, the Hamiltonian is presented as a sum of energies of all the plaquettes of the lattice. In Subsection 2.3, all the basic rays (vectors) which can be found using the triangular plaquettes are listed. Fully dimensional (that is, seven-dimensional) ground-state regions and corresponding groundstate structures found on the basis of these basic rays are described in Subsection 2.4. In Subsection 2.5, the disorder (degeneracy) of the fully dimensional phases is analyzed. In Subsection 2.6, "nontriangular" fully dimensional structures neighboring "triangular" ones are constructed and analyzed and, in Subsection 2.7, six examples of ground-state phase diagrams are presented. In Section 3, the relation between the experimental and the theoretical results is discussed and, in Section 4, conclusions are drawn.

2 "Triangular" ground-state structures

2.1 Model and method

The magnetic lattice of 3D honeycomb zigzag-ladder magnets is shown in Fig. 1. The structure is composed of three types of zigzag ladders: red, blue and gray (after the color of rungs in Fig. 1). We will refer to a part of the lattice with one red, one blue, and four gray ladders as a "hexagonal tube". There are two species of nonequivalent sites, these are

depicted with two colors: blue and red. The value of spin at each site is equal to -1 or +1. The coupling between two neighboring spins along ladder legs (rungs) is J_{01} for red sites and J_{02} for blue ones (J_{11} and J_{12}). The coupling between spins at neighboring sites of different colors (along ladder rungs) is J_2 . There are also two external field parameters, h_1 and h_2 for the red and blue sites, respectively; these parameters depend on the components of an external field along the two easy magnetization axes and the values of the magnetic moments at red and blue sites. We therefore consider an Ising-type model with seven parameters and the Hamiltonian of the model reads

$$\mathcal{H} = \sum_{\substack{\left\langle \frac{\text{magenta}}{\text{bonds}} \right\rangle}} J_{01}\sigma_i\sigma_j + \sum_{\substack{\left\langle \frac{\text{cyan}}{\text{bonds}} \right\rangle}} J_{02}\sigma_i\sigma_j + \sum_{\substack{\left\langle \frac{\text{red}}{\text{bonds}} \right\rangle}} J_{11}\sigma_i\sigma_j + \sum_{\substack{\left\langle \frac{\text{blue}}{\text{bonds}} \right\rangle}} J_{12}\sigma_i\sigma_j + \sum_{\substack{\left\langle \frac{\text{plue}}{\text{bonds}} \right\rangle}} J_{12}\sigma_i\sigma_j + \sum_{\substack{\left\langle \frac{\text{plue}}{\text{bond$$

To find the ground states of such a model, we use a cluster method developed by one of the authors in previous papers, the so-called method of basic rays and basic sets of cluster configurations [28, 29, 31, 32]. Let us briefly elaborate on the main aspects of the method used.

The ground-state phase diagram for any Ising-type model is a set of convex polyhedral cones (polyhedral angles with the vertices at the origin of coordinates) in the parameter space. A polyhedral cone is the linear hull, that is, all linear combinations with nonnegative coefficients — the so-called conic hull — of a set of vectors. An n-dimensional polyhedral cone is bounded by (n-1)-, (n-2)-, ..., 2-, 1-faces. 1-faces are called edges. The polyhedral cone is fully determined by its edges (vectors along them). The most important are fully dimensional polyhedral cones (seven-dimensional for the model considered). These cones fill the parameter space without gaps and overlaps. We refer to a structure, which is a ground-state structure in a fully dimensional polyhedral cone, as fully dimensional and to the corresponding edges (vectors) as basic rays (vectors) [28–32]. A ground-state problem can be considered as resolved if all the edges (basic rays or basic vectors) of all the fully dimensional polyhedral cones are determined as well as all the ground states at these edges. The ground states in basic rays (the same along an entire ray) are constructed with the lowest energy configurations of a cluster (or clusters). We refer to the sets of these configurations as "basic sets of cluster configurations." Simple examples of basic rays and basic sets of cluster configurations are given in Refs. [31, 32] and in the appendix of Ref. [29]. It should be noted that the lower the dimension of a face, the more degenerate is the corresponding ground state. The most degenerate ground states correspond to 1-faces, i.e., edges.

2.2 Triangular plaquettes and their energies

Let us consider the simplest plaquettes of the lattice shown in Fig. 1 – triangular ones (Fig. 2). There are four types of triangular plaquettes, the total energy can be distributed between them in different ways, as every plaquette has vertices and sides shared with the neighboring plaquettes. The arbitrariness in energy distribution can be taken into account by introducing a set of coefficients α_1 , α_2 , β , γ_1 , γ_2 , η_1 , and η_2 which can take arbitrary values between zero and one and which we refer to as "free" coefficients. The four types of the triangular plaquettes and energy distribution between them are shown in Fig. 2.



Figure 2: Four types of triangular plaquettes and their energies (see Fig. 1). The energy distribution between plaquettes of different types with shared sites or bonds is parameterized by a set of coefficients $\alpha_{1,2}$, β , $\gamma_{1,2}$, and, $\eta_{1,2}$, which take arbitrary values between zero and unity and which we refer to as "free" coefficients.

The Hamiltonian (1) can be presented as a sum of energies for all the plaquettes,

where the first, second, third, and fourth summations go over all the plaquettes shown in Fig. 2.

Let us show, for instance, that the energy of every red site is taken into account only once in the sum of energies of all the plaquettes on the lattice, that is, in the Hamiltonian (2). Every red site belongs to three plaquettes of type a (to one in the upper position and to two in the lower positions), to four plaquettes of type c, and to two plaquettes of type d. Therefore the one-site energy is

$$e = -\sigma h_1 \left((1 - \delta_1)(1 - \gamma_1) + 2\frac{(1 - \eta_1)\gamma_1}{2} + 4\frac{\eta_1\gamma_1}{4} + 2\frac{\delta_1(1 - \gamma_1)}{2} \right) = -\sigma h_1, \quad (3)$$

where σ is the value of spin at the red site. The Hamiltonian (2) does not depend on free coefficients despite the fact that the four sums for the individual plaquettes do depend on them.

There are six configurations of each plaquette, $\overset{\circ}{\circ}_{\circ}, \overset{\circ}{\circ}_{\circ}, \overset{\circ}{\circ}, \overset{\circ}{\circ$

2.3 Basic rays and basic sets of triangular plaquettes configurations

Using the expressions for these energies (see Appendix A), one can find 22 basic rays. They are given in Table 1. In the first column of the table, the basic rays [7-vectors $(J_{01}, J_{02}, J_{11}, J_{12}, J_2, h_1, h_2)$] are listed. Symbols *, \sim , and — denote the following transformations: sublattices swap (red sublattice becomes blue and vice versa), spin flip on the blue sublattice, and spin flip on both sublattices. In the second column, the ground-state configurations of the four types of plaquettes for the corresponding basic ray are given. The symbol \parallel separates configurations for four different types of triangular plaquettes. The symbol \bigcirc denotes the set of all the six configurations. Basic vector \mathbf{r}_1^* , for instance, and the corresponding basic set of cluster configurations can be obtained from vector \mathbf{r}_1 and its basic set of cluster configurations by using the * transformation. In the last column, the "free" coefficient values that minimize the energies of the corresponding configurations in the basic ray are presented.

Let us consider as an example the ray \mathbf{r}_1 for which $J_{01} < 0$ (ferromagnetic coupling) and all the other parameters are equal to zero. If $\alpha_1 = 0$, then, in this ray, the following triangular plaquette configurations have the lowest energies: $\mathbf{o}_0, \mathbf{o}_0, \mathbf{o}_0,$

It should be noted that, at this stage, it is not yet proven that the \mathbf{r}_1 is a basic ray. As will become apparent below, the 22 rays listed in Table 1 are indeed basic rays, but they do not form a complete set.

2.4 Fully dimensional "triangular" phases

Although the set of basic rays is incomplete, many fully dimensional global ground-state configurations can be found using these basic rays, they are given in Table 2 and Figs. 3-7.

The first column of Table 2 gives the label for the regions in parameter space. In the second column, the triangular plaquette configurations that generate all the ground-state structures in this region are shown. Under the plaquette configurations basic rays (not all in most cases) for the region considered are also listed in this column. The third column lists some characteristics of the structure(s), such as energy (per six plaquettes), relative number of each plaquette configuration in the structure(s), and dimensionality of disorder. The coefficient in front of h_1 (h_2) in the expression for the energy, taken with opposite sign, is equal to the magnetization per one sublattice site of the "red" ("blue") sublattice. For region 2, for example, magnetization per site is 1 for the "red" sublattice and 1/3 for the "blue" sublattice. Among the basic vectors for every region, there are necessarily seven linearly independent ones, except for region 15. For this region seven basic vectors are determined but only six of them are linearly independent. However, one can prove that phase 15 is fully dimensional. To obtain all the basic vectors for this phase, larger clusters should be considered.

Table 1: Basic rays and basic sets of configurations for the Ising model on a honeycomb zigzag-ladder lattice.

	Basic ray	Basic set	"Free"
$(J_{01}, .$	$J_{02}, J_{11}, J_{12}, J_2, h_1, h_2)$	of configurations \mathbf{R}_i	coefficients
\mathbf{r}_1	(-1, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0)		$\alpha_1 = 0$
\mathbf{r}_1^{\star}	$\left(0,-1,0,0,0,0,0\right)$		$\alpha_2 = 0$
\mathbf{r}_2	(1, 0, -2, 0, 0, 0, 0)		$\alpha_1 = 0$
\mathbf{r}_2^{\star}	$\left(0,1,0,-2,0,0,0\right)$	oo oo oo oo oo oo	$\alpha_2 = 0$
\mathbf{r}_3	$\left(1,0,2,0,0,0,0\right)$		$\alpha_1 = 0$
\mathbf{r}_3^{\star}	$\left(0,1,0,2,0,0,0\right)$		$\alpha_2 = 0$
\mathbf{r}_4	$\left(2,0,0,0,1,0,0\right)$		$\alpha_1 = 1, \beta = 0$
\mathbf{r}_4^{\sim}	(2, 0, 0, 0, -1, 0, 0)		$\alpha_1 = 1, \ \beta = 0$
\mathbf{r}_4^{\star}	$\left(0,2,0,0,1,0,0\right)$		$\alpha_2 = 1, \beta = 1$
$\mathbf{r}_4^{\sim\star}$	(0, 2, 0, 0, -1, 0, 0)		$\alpha_2 = 1, \ \beta = 1$
\mathbf{r}_5	$\left(1,0,0,0,0,2,0\right)$		$\alpha_1 = 0, \ \gamma_1 = 1, \ \eta_1 = 0$
\mathbf{r}_5^-	(1, 0, 0, 0, 0, -2, 0)		$\alpha_1 = 0, \gamma_1 = 1, \eta_1 = 0$
\mathbf{r}_5^{\star}	$\left(0,1,0,0,0,0,2\right)$		$\alpha_2 = 0, \ \gamma_2 = 1, \ \eta_2 = 0$
$\mathbf{r}_5^{\star-}$	(0, 1, 0, 0, 0, 0, -2)		$\alpha_2 = 0, \gamma_2 = 1, \eta_2 = 0$
\mathbf{r}_6	$\left(0,0,1,0,0,2,0 ight)$		$\gamma_1 = \frac{1}{2}, \delta_1 = 0, \eta_1 = 0$
\mathbf{r}_6^-	(0, 0, 1, 0, 0, -2, 0)		$\gamma_1 = \frac{1}{2}, \delta_1 = 0, \eta_1 = 0$
\mathbf{r}_6^{\star}	$\left(0,0,0,1,0,0,2 ight)$		$\gamma_2 = \frac{1}{2}, \delta_2 = 0, \eta_2 = 0$
$\mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star-}$	(0, 0, 0, 1, 0, 0, -2)		$\gamma_2 = \frac{1}{2}, \delta_2 = 0, \eta_2 = 0$
\mathbf{r}_7	$\left(0,0,0,0,1,4,4\right)$		$\beta = 0, \ \gamma_1 = 1, \ \gamma_2 = 0,$
			$\delta_2 = 1, \eta_1 = 1$
\mathbf{r}_7^-	(0, 0, 0, 0, 1, -4, -4)		$\beta = 0, \gamma_1 = 1, \gamma_2 = 0, \\ \delta_2 = 1, m = 1$
\mathbf{r}_7^{\sim}	(0, 0, 0, 0, -1, 4, -4)		$\beta = 0, \ \gamma_1 = 1, \ \gamma_2 = 0,$
	· · · · · · /		$\delta_2 = 1, \eta_1 = 1$
$\mathbf{r}_7^{\sim -}$	(0, 0, 0, 0, -1, -4, 4)		$\beta = 0, \ \gamma_1 = 1, \ \gamma_2 = 0,$ $\delta_2 = 1, \ n_1 = 1$
			$v_2 - 1, v_1 - 1$

	Generating configurations	Characteristics of the structure(s)
	and basic rays	(energy per six plaquettes)
1	$J_{01} + J_{02} + J_{11} + J_{12} + 4J_2 - h_1 - h_2$
	$\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_1^\star, \mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_2^\star, \mathbf{r}_4^\sim, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim\star},$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 2 & 2 \\ 1 & 2 & 2 & 2 \end{bmatrix}$, order
	$\mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^\star, \mathbf{r}_6, \mathbf{r}_6^\star, \mathbf{r}_7, \mathbf{r}_7^\sim, \mathbf{r}_7^\sim^-$	
2		$\frac{1}{3}(3J_{01} - J_{02} + 3J_{11} - J_{12} + 4J_2 - 3h_1 - h_2)$
	$\mathbf{r}_{1}, \mathbf{r}_{2}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{6}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{7}, \mathbf{r}_{7}^{\sim}$	$[3 \parallel 1, 2 \parallel 2, 4 \parallel 4, 2]$, 2D disorder
3		$J_{01} - J_{02} + J_{11} - h_1$
	$\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_2^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim\star},$	$\begin{bmatrix} 2 \parallel 1, 1 \parallel 2, 2 \parallel 4 \end{bmatrix}$, 2D disorder
	$\mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^\star, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star-}, \mathbf{r}_6, \mathbf{r}_7, \mathbf{r}_7^\sim$	
4		$J_{01} + J_{02} + J_{11} - J_{12} - h_1$
	$\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_1^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_6, \mathbf{r}_6^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_6^{\star-}, \mathbf{r}_7, \mathbf{r}_7^{\sim}$	$[2 \parallel 1, 1 \parallel 2, 2 \parallel 2, 2]$, 2D disorder
5	$\stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} = \ \stackrel{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} = \ \stackrel{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} = \ \stackrel{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} = \ \stackrel{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} = \ \stackrel{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\circ} $	$\frac{1}{5}(J_{01} + J_{02} + J_{11} - 3J_{12} + 12J_2 - 3h_1 - h_2)$
	$\mathbf{r}_3^\star, \mathbf{r}_4^\sim, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim\star}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_6, \mathbf{r}_6^\star, \mathbf{r}_7^\sim$	$[1,2,2 \parallel 1,2,2 \parallel 4,6 \parallel 2,4,4], \text{ order}$
6	$\stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\bullet}{\circ} \stackrel{\bullet}{\bullet} \stackrel{\bullet}{\bullet} \parallel \stackrel{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\bullet}{\bullet} \parallel \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\bullet}{\bullet} \stackrel{\bullet}{\circ} \stackrel{\bullet}{\bullet} \parallel \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\bullet}{\bullet} \stackrel{\bullet}{\bullet$	$\frac{1}{2}(2J_{02} - 2J_{12} - 4J_2 - h_1)$
	${f r}_1^\star, {f r}_3^\star, {f r}_4, {f r}_5, {f r}_6, {f r}_6^\star, {f r}_6^{\star-}, {f r}_7$	$[1,2,1 \parallel 2,2 \parallel 4,4 \parallel 4,2,2], 2D$ disorder
7	$\overset{\circ}{\circ} \overset{\bullet}{\circ} \overset{\bullet}{\bullet} \parallel \overset{\circ}{\circ} \overset{\bullet}{\circ} \overset{\bullet}{\bullet} \overset{\bullet}{\bullet} \parallel \overset{\bullet}{\circ} \overset{\bullet}{\circ} \overset{\bullet}{\circ} \parallel \overset{\bullet}{\bullet} \overset{\bullet}{\circ} \overset{\bullet}{\circ}$	$\frac{1}{3}(-J_{01} - J_{02} + J_{11} + J_{12} - 4J_2 - h_1 - h_2)$
	$\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_2^\star, \mathbf{r}_4, \mathbf{r}_4^\star, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^\star, \mathbf{r}_7$	$[1,1,1 \parallel 1,1,1 \parallel 2,4 \parallel 2,4], \text{ 1D disorder}$
8	$\bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \parallel \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \parallel \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \parallel \bullet \bullet \bullet$	$\frac{1}{3}(-J_{01} - J_{02} - J_{11} - J_{12} - 4J_2 - h_1 - h_2)$
	$\mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_3^\star, \mathbf{r}_4, \mathbf{r}_4^\star, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^\star, \mathbf{r}_6, \mathbf{r}_6^\star, \mathbf{r}_7$	[1,2 1,2 2,4 2,4 2,4], order
9		$\frac{1}{3}(-J_{01} - J_{02} - J_{11} - J_{12} + 4J_2 - h_1 - h_2)$
	$\mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim \star}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_6, \mathbf{r}_6^{\star}$	[1,2 1,2 2,2,2 2,2,2], 2D disorder
10		$\frac{1}{3}(-J_{01} - J_{02} - J_{11} + J_{12} + 4J_2 - h_1 - h_2)$
	$\mathbf{r}_2^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim\star}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_6$	[1,2 1,1,1 2,2,2 2,2,2], 3D disorder
11		$\frac{1}{3}(-J_{01} - 3J_{02} - J_{11} - h_1)$
	$\mathbf{r}_2^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\prime \circ \star}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_5^{\circ}$, \mathbf{r}_6	[2,4 3,3 4,2,4,2 4,8], 2D disorder
12		$J_{01} + J_{02} - J_{11} - J_{12} - 4J_2$
	$\mathbf{r}_{1}, \mathbf{r}_{1}^{-}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{-}, \mathbf{r}_{4}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{-},$	$[1,1 \parallel 1,1 \parallel 2,2 \parallel 2,2]$, order
19	$\bullet \bullet \circ \circ \bullet \circ \bullet \circ \bullet$	
13	•••• •••• •••• •• •• •• •• ** • • • ** • • •^~ • • • [−] •* •* [−]	$-J_{01} + J_{02} - J_{12}$ [11]1]1]2]2]1111]2]D disorder
14	$\bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet $	
14	$ \begin{array}{c} \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \\ \bullet \\ \bullet \\ \bullet \\ \bullet \\ \bullet $	$-J_{01} - J_{02}$ [11]11]22]22]2] 2D disorder
	$\mathbf{r}_{4}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}$	
	4/ 4/ 4/-4 /-3/-5/-5/-5	
15		$\frac{1}{2}(-J_{01}+3J_{02}-J_{11}-3J_{12}-h_1)$
-		$[2,4 \parallel 3,3 \parallel 4,2,4,2 \parallel 2,4,2,4]$, disorder
	$\mathbf{r}_{1}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{6}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star-}$	с / н / н / / / н / / ј / ла да

Table 2: Fully dimensional regions and "triangular" ground-state structures of the Ising model on the honeycomb zigzag-ladder lattice. The structures (from 1 to 14) are numbered in order of decreasing magnetization of the "red" sublattice.



Figure 3: Phases 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 11, 12, 13, 14, and 15. For each phase, the left hand panel shows the configuration of the spins within each chain of a hexagonal tube (its development is depicted). The larger colored circles at the bottom of the chains are a key that indicate how the spins along a chain are distributed in each of the arrangements shown in the right hand panels. For each phase, the right panel shows the setting of the spins viewed down the chains from above. The configurations of triangular plaquettes are also given. Phases 5, 8, and 12 are ordered, while phases 2, 3, 4, 6, 11, 13, 14, and 15 are disordered (the disorder is two-dimensional).

This set of triangular plaquette configurations is a subset of basic sets \mathbf{R}_i for basic rays $\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_2^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star-}, \mathbf{r}_6, \mathbf{r}_7, \text{ and } \mathbf{r}_7^{\sim}$ (see Table 1). It means that, in the conic hull of this set of vectors, structures 3 are the ground-state ones. To calculate the energy of structures 3, it is sufficient to determine the relative number of each plaquette configuration in these structures (see Appendix A). These numbers are 2, 1, 1, 2, 2, and 4, respectively.

In Table 2, we give only one representative per class of structures. Other structures of the class can be obtained from the given one by applying three transformations ($*, \tilde{},$ and -). For instance, the class of structures 5 contains eight structures (see Table 3 and Fig. 8):



Figure 4: Phase 7. The structures of this phase are constructed with the two configurations of hexagonal tube: a and a'. The arrows show the directions of shift for chains. The global arrow configuration (constructed with two hexagonal configurations) is fully determined by a line of arrows (depicted in olive). Therefore, the disorder is one-dimensional.

Table 3: Structure 5 and seven other structures obtained from it using transformations *, \sim , and -.

	Generating configurations and basic rays	Characteristics of the structure (energy per six plaquettes)
5	$ \begin{array}{c} \circ \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \circ \bullet \bullet \\ \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim \star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{6}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{7}^{\sim} \end{array} $	$\frac{\frac{1}{5}(J_{01} + J_{02} + J_{11} - 3J_{12} + 12J_2 - 3h_1 - h_2)}{[1, 2, 2 \parallel 1, 2, 2 \parallel 4, 6 \parallel 2, 4, 4], \text{ order}}$
5*		$\frac{\frac{1}{5}(J_{01} + J_{02} - 3J_{11} + J_{12} + 12J_2 - h_1 - 3h_2)}{[1, 2, 2 \parallel 1, 2, 2 \parallel 2, 4, 4 \parallel 4, 6], \text{ order}}$
$\widetilde{5}$	$\stackrel{\circ}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}$	$\frac{\frac{1}{5}(J_{01} + J_{02} + J_{11} - 3J_{12} - 12J_2 - 3h_1 + h_2)}{[1, 2, 2 \parallel 2, 2, 1 \parallel 6, 4 \parallel 4, 2, 4], \text{ order}}$
$\widetilde{5}^{\star}$	$ \begin{array}{c} \circ & \circ \\ \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ \end{array} \ \begin{array}{c} \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ \\ \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4, \mathbf{r}_4^\star, \mathbf{r}_5^\star, \mathbf{r}_6^-, \mathbf{r}_6^\star, \mathbf{r}_7 \end{array} \\ \end{array} \ \begin{array}{c} \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ \end{array} \ \begin{array}{c} \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ \end{array} \ \begin{array}{c} \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ \end{array} \ \begin{array}{c} \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ \end{array} \ \begin{array}{c} \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ \end{array} \ \begin{array}{c} \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ \end{array} \ \begin{array}{c} \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ \\ \bullet$	$\frac{\frac{1}{5}(J_{01} + J_{02} - 3J_{11} + J_{12} - 12J_2 + h_1 - 3h_2)}{[2, 2, 1 \parallel 1, 2, 2 \parallel 4, 2, 4 \parallel 6, 4], \text{ order}}$
$\overline{5}$	$ \begin{array}{c} \circ \circ$	$\frac{\frac{1}{5}(J_{01} + J_{02} + J_{11} - 3J_{12} + 12J_2 + 3h_1 + h_2)}{[2, 2, 1 \parallel 2, 2, 1 \parallel 6, 4 \parallel 4, 4, 2], \text{ order}}$
$\overline{5^{\star}}$	$ \begin{array}{c} \overset{\circ}{} \circ$	$\frac{1}{5}(J_{01} + J_{02} - 3J_{11} + J_{12} + 12J_2 + h_1 + 3h_2)$ [2,2,1 2,2,1 4,4,2 6,4], order
$\overline{\tilde{5}}$	$ \begin{array}{c} \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \circ & \circ & \circ &$	$\frac{\frac{1}{5}(J_{01} + J_{02} + J_{11} - 3J_{12} - 12J_2 + 3h_1 - h_2)}{[2, 2, 1 \parallel 1, 2, 2 \parallel 4, 6 \parallel 4, 2, 4], \text{ order}}$
$\overline{\widetilde{5}^{\star}}$	$ \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{3}{\bullet}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{3}{\bullet}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{4}{\bullet}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{5}{\bullet}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{5}{\bullet}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{6}{\bullet}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{6}{\bullet}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{6}{\bullet}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{6}{\bullet}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{6}{\bullet}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{6}{\bullet}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{7}{\bullet}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{7}{\bullet} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{7}{\bullet}} $	$\frac{\frac{1}{5}(J_{01} + J_{02} - 3J_{11} + J_{12} - 12J_2 - h_1 + 3h_2)}{[1, 2, 2 \parallel 2, 2, 1 \parallel 4, 2, 4 \parallel 4, 6], \text{ order}}$

5, 5^{*}, $\overline{5}$, $\overline{5}^*$, $\overline{5}$, $\overline{5^*}$, $\overline{5}$, and $\overline{5^*}$. This is the maximum number of structures in one class. It should be noted here that $\overline{n^*} = (\tilde{n})^*$. The class of structures 14 contains only structure 14 because this structure is symmetric with respect to all the three transformations. There are 69 "triangular" phases in total.

It should be also noted that phases 5, 6, 7, and 10 are not possible if only uncoupled "red" and "blue" zigzag-ladders are considered, i.e. if $J_2 = 0$ (see Ref. [33] for ground states of one zigzag-ladder).



Figure 5: Structures 9 are composed of six hexagonal tube configurations corresponding to six arrow configurations of hexagons (a, b, c, a', b', and c') in which two arrows are pointing clockwise and two others anticlockwise or vice versa. The global arrow configuration generated by local configuration b is depicted. The substitution shown in the upper part of the figure can be made locally without violating the ground state rules. Therefore, the disorder is two-dimensional.

2.5 Disorder (degeneracy) of the phases

Let us analyze the disorder of phases next. Phases 1, 5, 8, and 12 (and the phases obtained from them by using the transformations described above) are ordered. All the other phases are disordered, that is, there are an infinite number of structures with the same energy. A disorder can be characterized by its dimensionality. For instance, the disorder of phase 7 is one-dimensional, as shown in Fig. 4. The structures of this phase are constructed with two hexagonal tube configurations that can be depicted as hexagons with two arrows showing the shift of the corresponding chains. The global lattice configuration is mapped on two-dimensional arrow configurations. It is easy to see, such an arrow configuration is determined by an arbitrary one-dimensional sequence of arrows. So, the disorder is one-dimensional.

The disorder of phase 2 is two-dimensional, since all the chains are ordered but every up-up-down (uud) chain can be in three different positions. That is, there is a perfect order along the *c* direction (along the chains) but a disorder in the *ab*-plane. The disorder of phase 4 is also two-dimensional, since every "blue" ladder can be in two different positions. It is shown in Fig. 5 that the disorder of phase 9 is two-dimensional as well, because all the chains are ordered and, in the structure generated by arrow configuration *b*, the local arrow configurations depicted in the upper part of the figure are interchangeable.

The disorder of phase 10 is three-dimensional, that is, the degeneracy is macroscopic and therefore there exists a residual entropy in this phase. Let us prove this. The structures of phase 10 are constructed with ten hexagonal tube configurations, shown in Fig. 6. These tube configurations are composed of identical chains, *uud*. The shift of a chain configuration when passing to a neighboring one can be indicated by an arrow. So, we have ten arrow configurations of hexagons. Notation x' means that all the arrows in the



Figure 6: Structures 10 are composed of ten hexagonal tube configurations corresponding to ten arrow configurations of hexagons, a, b, c, d, e, a', b', c', d', and e' (the last four are not shown), in which one arrow is pointing clockwise and four others anticlockwise or vice versa.

hexagon are opposite to those in hexagon configuration x. In Fig. 7, an example of arrow configurations and another representation of the same structures, by explicit indication of chain positions, are given. For the "shaded" chains the shifts of all the three neighboring chains are equal. In such blue chains, one of two spins in each oval (Fig. 7, right panel) can point in an arbitrary direction with the other being opposite. So, the disorder in phase 10 is three-dimensional.

2.6 Fully dimensional "nontriangular" phases

The sets of basic vectors are complete for only four (4, 11, 13, and 14) of the fullydimensional regions stated in Table 2. The proof of the completeness is given in Appendix B which lists the 6-faces for these regions. But even if the set of basic vectors for a "triangular" phase region is incomplete, the majority of 6-faces of the polyhedral cone generated by this set are 6-faces of this region. Then, even if the neighboring phase is not a "triangular" one, it is possible to determine the ground-state structure(s) for this phase. Such structures should have a maximum number of new triangular configurations which are absent in structures of the "triangular" phase but present in ground-state structures at the common boundary (6-face). We found nine phases (more exactly, nine classes) of this type. The list of these phases is given in Table 4 (one representative per class) and the corresponding structures are depicted in Figs. 9-13. In these figures, new triangular configurations are framed by dotted squares. It should be noted that the sets of triangular configurations in Table 4 and in the figures are the sets of ground-state triangular configurations for six-dimensional boundaries. As one can see from Figs. 9-11, some "nontriangular" structures, in contrast to "triangular" ones, are composed of two different types of red ladder (phases 16, 18, 19, 22, and 23) or blue ladder (phases 20 and 21) configurations. These phases are due to the interaction between red and blue ladders, they are therefore excluded from considerations in the one-dimensional models, such as 1D ANNNI model used in Ref. [34].

It is worthwhile studying the disorder of these "nontriangular" phases. Phases 17 and 20 are ordered. As it is clear from Fig. 9 (upper panel), the disorder of phase 16 is onedimensional, since the structure is completely determined by a sequence of arrows showing the shifts of neighboring red *uud* chains. The disorder of phases 18, 21, 22, and 23 is twodimensional due to *ud* chains. A complex disorder is present in phase 24. The structures of this phase can be mapped on two-dimensional arrow configurations composed of ten

 Table 4: Fully dimensional regions and "nontriangular" ground-state structures of the

 Ising model on the honeycomb zigzag-ladder lattice.

Boun-	Triangular configurations	Characteristics
dary	and basic rays	of "nontriangular" structures
(2, 16)	$\begin{array}{c} \circ & \bullet & \bullet \\ \circ & \circ & \bullet & \bullet \\ \circ & \circ & \bullet & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \bullet & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \bullet & \bullet \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} \circ & \bullet & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \bullet & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \bullet & \bullet \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} \circ & \bullet & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \bullet & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \bullet & \bullet \\ \end{array}$	$\frac{1}{3}(J_{01} - J_{02} + 2J_{11} - J_{12} - 2h_1 - h_2)$ [1, 1, 4 2, 4 4, 4, 4 2, 8, 2], 1D disorder
	$\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3^\star, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^\star, \mathbf{r}_6^\star, \mathbf{r}_7$	
(3, 17)		$\frac{\frac{1}{5}(J_{01} - 3J_{02} + J_{11} + J_{12} - 4J_2 - 3h_1 - h_2)}{[1, 2, 2 \parallel 2, 2, 1 \parallel 4, 4, 2 \parallel 2, 8], \text{ order}}$
	$\mathbf{r}_2^\star, \mathbf{r}_4^\star, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^\star, \mathbf{r}_6, \mathbf{r}_7$	
(4, 18)		$\frac{1}{4}(2J_{01} + 4J_{02} + 3J_{11} - 4J_{12} - 4J_2 - 3h_1)$ $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 6 & 4 & 4 & 8 & 4 & 4 & 8 & 2 & 6 \\ 1 & 1 & 6 & 4 & 4 & 8 & 4 & 4 & 8 & 2 & 6 \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{\text{2D disorder}}$
	$\mathbf{r}_{1}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{2}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star-}, \mathbf{r}_{7}^{\star}$	
(4, 19)		$\frac{1}{2}(2J_{01} + 2J_{02} + 2J_{11} - 2J_{12} + 4J_2 - h_1)$
	$\begin{array}{c} \circ \circ \bullet \bullet \bullet \parallel \circ \circ \circ \circ \bullet \bullet \\ \mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_1^\star, \mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3^\star, \mathbf{r}_6^\star, \mathbf{r}_6^{\star-}, \mathbf{r}_7^{\sim} \end{array}$	$[1,3 \parallel 2,2 \parallel 2,2,4 \parallel 2,2,4]$, 2D disorder
(10, 20)	$\stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\bullet}{\bullet} \parallel \stackrel{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\bullet} \stackrel{\bullet}{\bullet} \stackrel{\bullet}{\bullet} \parallel$	$\frac{1}{9}(-3J_{01} - 3J_{02} - 3J_{11} + 3J_{12} + 12J_2 - 3h_1 - h_2)$
	$\mathbf{r}_{2}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{6}$	$[3,6 \parallel 1,3,3,2 \parallel 8,4,6 \parallel 2,4,8,4]$, order
(11, 21)		$\frac{1}{9}(-3J_{01} - 7J_{02} - 3J_{11} + J_{12} - 4J_2 - 3h_1 - h_2)$
	$\mathbf{r}_{2}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{2}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{6}$	$[3, 6 \parallel 4, 4, 1 \parallel 4, 4, 8, 2 \parallel 4, 2, 12]$, 2D disorder
(13, 22)	$\begin{array}{c} \circ \\ \circ $	$\frac{1}{4}(-2J_{01}+4J_{02}+J_{11}-4J_{12}+4J_2-h_1)$
	$ \overset{\circ}{\underset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}} \ \overset{\circ}{\underset{\bullet}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}} \overset{\circ}{\underset{\bullet}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}} \overset{\circ}{\underset{\bullet}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}} \overset{\circ}{\underset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}} \overset{\circ}{\underset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}} \overset{\circ}{\underset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}} \overset{\circ}{\underset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}} \overset{\circ}{\underset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}} \overset{\circ}{\underset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}} \overset{\circ}{\underset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}} \overset{\circ}{\underset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}} \overset{\circ}{\underset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}} \overset{\circ}{\underset{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}{\overset{\bullet}}$	$[3,3,2 \parallel 4,4 \parallel 8,4,4 \parallel 4,4,2,6]$, 2D disorder
(13, 23)	$\begin{array}{c} \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \\$	$\frac{1}{12}(-10J_{01}+12J_{02}-J_{11}-12J_{12}+4J_2-h_1)$
、 · · /	$\mathbf{r}_{1}^{*}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{*}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{*}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{*}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{*-}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 9, 2, 13 \parallel 12, 12 \parallel 24, 20, 4 \parallel 12, 12, 10, 14 \end{bmatrix}$, 2D disorder
(14, 24)		$\frac{1}{5}(-3J_{01} - 3J_{02} - J_{11} + J_{12} - 4J_2 - h_1 - h_2)$
	$ \stackrel{\bullet\bullet\bullet\bullet\bullet}{\mathbf{r}_2^\star}, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4, \mathbf{r}_4^\star, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^\star $	$[1, 1, 3 \parallel 2, 2, 1 \parallel 2, 2, 6 \parallel 2, 2, 6], \text{ disorder}$



Figure 7: One of possible structures of phase 10 is shown in two ways, (left panel) with the help of arrow configurations and (middle panel) by indicating the shift of each chain, in the units of the in-chain spin distance. The unit cell is also indicated. For the "shaded" chains the shifts of all the three neighboring chains are equal. In such blue chains (right panel), one of two spins in each oval can be arbitrary, the other being of opposite direction. The disorder in phase 10 is three-dimensional, i.e. this phase is macroscopically degenerate.



Figure 8: Structure 5 and three related structures obtained from it by using transformations \star , and \sim . Transformation – (spin flip on both sublattices) gives additional four structures. Only one hexagonal tube is shown for each structure.

hexagon arrow configurations in which one arrow is aligned clockwise and the five others anticlockwise or vice versa, the arrow between blue sites being aligned with the majority of the arrows. Three arrows depicted in Fig. 13 (left hand panel) produce an infinite halfchain of hexagon arrow configurations. At the first sight, the local arrow configuration shown in Fig. 13 (middle panel) should produce a three-dimensional disorder. However, the number of this arrow configurations is infinitesimal, since every configuration of this type generates at least two half-chains of hexagons. So, the disorder is not three-dimensional but two- or, possibly, even one-dimensional.



Figure 9: Phases 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 22, and 23. They appear at boundary of phases 2, 3, 4, 4, 10, 13, and 13, respectively. The triangular configurations shown below the structures are the ground-state configurations at these boundaries. New triangular configurations are surrounded by dotted squares. The principle of these structures construction is to find at the given boundary the structures containing maximum number of such configurations. To show chains, only one hexagonal tube configuration is depicted for each phase. A more detailed picture of phase 20 is shown in Fig. 7 (middle panel) with "dashed" *ddu* chains.



Figure 10: Disorder of phase 19. Open and filled circles denote two types of ferromagnetic chains. A similar disorder is present in phases 18, 22, and 23.



Figure 11: Phase 21. There is a two-dimensional disorder in this phase due to the presence of *ud* chains. Right panel gives a more detailed picture of the structure (compare with Fig. 7, middle panel).

2.7 Ground-state phase diagrams in the (h_1, h_2) -plane

Consider the ground-state phase diagrams in the (h_1, h_2) -plane. Although the solution of the ground-state problem is incomplete, at some particular values of the parameters J_{01} , J_{02} , J_{11}, J_{12} , and J_2 , it is possible to construct exact and complete phase diagrams. Six examples of such diagrams are given in Fig. 14. The boundaries shown with dotted lines are not strictly proven.

When both the interaction parameter values and the external fields, h_1 and h_2 , are fixed we have a single point on the phase diagram. By continuously varying the value (and possibly the direction) of an external field, instead of a point, we generate a line of transitions on the phase diagram. For instance, increasing magnetic field along the *a* axis in SrEr₂O₄ that corresponds to a passage along the h_1 axis in Fig. 14 (left middle panel) we have the following sequence of the phases: 13, 23, 15, $\tilde{6}$ and 4 (see also Fig. 15).

Let us show how to prove that the point where three phases, for instance, 2, 5, and 9, meet, exists in a ground-state phase diagram. This point is determined by the following set of vectors (common for all the three phases), $\{\mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim\star}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_6, \mathbf{r}_6^{\star}\}$. At fixed J_{01}, J_{02}, J_{11}



Figure 12: Structures 24 are determined by ten arrow configurations of hexagon (a, b, c, d, e, a', b', c', d', and e') in which one arrow is pointing clockwise and five others anticlockwise or vice versa. The arrow between blue sites is aligned with the majority of the arrows. An example of global arrow configuration is also shown.



Figure 13: Disorder of phase 24. Half-chain of hexagon arrow configurations for phase 24 (see Fig. 12) is completely determined by the three arrow depicted in olive or in green (left hand panel). Local arrow configuration shown in olive (middle panel) could lead to a three-dimensional disorder because a rearrangement of spins in blue chains of such configuration is possible (right hand panel). However, the number of this arrow configurations is infinitely small, since every configuration of this type generates at least two half-chains of hexagons.

 J_{12} , and J_2 the solution of the equation

$$a_3^{\star} \mathbf{r}_3^{\star} + a_4^{\star} \mathbf{r}_4^{\star} + a_5 \mathbf{r}_5 + a_6 \mathbf{r}_6 + a_6^{\star} \mathbf{r}_6^{\star} = (J_{01}, J_{02}, J_{11}, J_{12}, J_2, h_1, h_2)$$
(4)



Figure 14: Examples of ground-state phase diagrams in the (h_1, h_2) -plane (the fields and couplings are shown in arbitrary units). Some diagrams are not completely proven, particularly the transitions depicted by the doted lines.

is

$$a_{3}^{\star} = J_{02} + 2J_{2}, \ a_{4}^{\sim \star} = -J_{2}, \ a_{5} = J_{01}, \ a_{6} = J_{11}, \ a_{6}^{\star} = -2J_{02} + J_{12} - 4J_{2},$$

$$h_{1} = 2J_{01} + 2J_{11}, \ h_{2} = -4J_{02} + 2J_{12} - 8J_{2}.$$
 (5)

For $J_{01} = 1.0$, $J_{02} = 0.65$, $J_{11} = 0.60$, $J_{12} = 0.75$, and $J_2 = -0.25$ all the five coefficients are nonnegative, so, the linear combination in the left side of Eq. 4 belongs to the conical hull of the set of vectors, and, therefore, for these values of parameters, the point where the phases 2, 5, and 9 meet exists in the ground-state phase diagram for these values of parameters. It is the point $h_1 = 3.2$, $h_2 = 0.9$.

In a similar way one can, for instance, find conditions for the existence of the region 13 – region 23 boundary in the (h_1, h_2) -plane,

$$J_{11} > 0, \ J_{12} > 0, \ J_2 < 0, \ 2J_{01} - J_{11} + 4J_2 > 0, \ J_{12} - 2J_{02} > 0.$$
 (6)

Then, for this boundary we have

$$h_{1} = 2J_{01} - J_{11} + 4J_{2},$$

$$4J_{02} - 2J_{12} < h_{2} < 2J_{12} - 4J_{02} \quad \text{if } J_{02} > 0,$$

$$-2J_{12} < h_{2} < 2J_{12} \qquad \text{if } J_{02} < 0.$$
(7)

3 Application to $SrRE_2O_4$ and $BaRE_2O_4$ compounds

In this section, we consider an application of the theoretical approach discussed above to the magnetic properties of the two families of rare-earth compounds, $SrRE_2O_4$ and $BaRE_2O_4$. We start by briefly summarizing what is experimentally known about the ground state configurations of these zigzag-ladder magnets, particularly focusing on the in-field behaviour of $SrEr_2O_4$, $SrHo_2O_4$, $SrDy_2O_4$ and $BaDy_2O_4$.

The crystal structure of these compounds is very close to the one depicted in Fig. 1, with two RE ions in different positions forming a set of triangular ladders running along the c axis [1]. The ladders are arranged in a honeycomb-like lattice in the a-b plane, however, the honeycombs are significantly distorted so that the distances between the ions are not identical, which results in the need to introduce different exchange couplings, $J_{11} \neq J_{12} \neq J_2$ in our model.

One important question to address here is to what degree the $SrRE_2O_4$ and $BaRE_2O_4$ compounds could be characterized as Ising-type magnets. The answer to this question should come most naturally from considering the effects of crystal fields (CFs), however, the task of establishing the sets of relevant CF parameters for the two ions in crystallographically inequivalent positions is far from trivial. Because of the low overall symmetry and the large number of atoms in a unit cell, interpretation of inelastic neutron scattering data does not necessarily return a unique set of CF parameters unless supplemented by optical and electron paramagnetic resonance measurements, and so far this has only been done for $SrEr_2O_4$ [35]. For $SrEr_2O_4$, the observed largely anisotropic g factors for the Er^{3+} ions in both crystallographically inequivalent sites [35] prove the applicability of the Ising model. For $SrHo_2O_4$ and $SrDy_2O_4$, the results of the inelastic neutron scattering were also interpreted as consistent with the Ising chain model [36].

In zero field, the Er ions positioned in $SrEr_2O_4$ on different sites participate in the formation of two different magnetic systems acting almost independently of each other [37,38]. Er1 sites form a long-range antiferromagnetic order with the magnetic moments aligned parallel to the *c* direction. For this site, each ladder is made of the two ferromagnetic chains



Figure 15: Sequence of the proposed phase transitions in SrHo₂O₄ and SrEr₂O₄ for a magnetic field applied along the easy-magnetization direction for the RE2 site, *a* axis in SrEr₂O₄ and *b* axis in SrHo₂O₄, for $J_2 < 0$, $J_{11} > 0$. For $J_2 > 0$ ($J_{11} > 0$), the phase 23 should appear instead of the phase 23 and the phase 6 should appear instead of the phase 6. The corresponding sequence of magnetization values for the red sublattice is 0, 1/12, 1/3, 1/2, and 1 (per one site of red sublattice). Transition field values are $h_{1,13-23} = 2J_{01} - J_{11} + 4J_2$, $h_{1,23-15} = 2J_{01} - J_{11} - \frac{4}{3}J_2$, $h_{1,15-\tilde{6}} = 2J_{01} + 2J_{11} + 12J_2$, $h_{1,\tilde{6}-4} = 2J_{01} + 2J_{11} - 4J_2$. The width of the region $\tilde{6}$ is three times the width of the region 23 in (h_1, h_2)-plane (see Fig. 14).

aligned antiparallel to each other. Er2 sites participate in the formation of a short-range one-dimensional order, where the spins lay in the *a-b* plane, and demonstrate very strong antiferromagnetic in-chain correlations (along the *c* axis) with much weaker correlations between the chains (that is in the direction normal to the *c* axis). In the absence of an external field, phase 13 is realized in SrEr_2O_4 (without degeneracy of the Er1 subsystem).

In $SrHo_2O_4$, the zero-field ground state is similar to that of $SrEr_2O_4$, however, for the Ho1 sites, the magnetic order remains limited even at the lowest experimentally achievable temperature [39]. This lack of ordering can potentially be explained by the degeneracy (disorder) of both Ho1 and Ho2 subsystems in phase 13, however, it is also possible that for a non-Kramers Ho sites the crystal field effects lead to a considerable splitting of the ground state doublets at the lowest temperature.

In $\mathrm{SrDy}_2\mathrm{O}_4$, there are no long-range correlations between the magnetic moments in zero field, but they can be induced by applying a relatively weak magnetic field along the b axis [12]. In fact the magnetization process in all the three compounds demonstrate similar features, as revealed by the low-T single-crystal magnetization M(H) measurements [7]. For certain directions of an applied field, the process is characterized by the appearance of a magnetization plateau, albeit not very pronounced but still clearly visible on the dM(H)/dH curves. To stabilize the plateaus, the field should be applied along the a axis in $\mathrm{SrEr}_2\mathrm{O}_4$ and along the b axis in $\mathrm{SrDy}_2\mathrm{O}_4$ and $\mathrm{SrHo}_2\mathrm{O}_4$. The value of magnetization on the plateaux is approximately a third of the magnetization observed in higher fields [7]. The 1/3 magnetization plateaux are, of course, a common feature of many triangular antiferromagnets, they correspond to the states with the two spins on each triangle pointing along the field and the third spin pointing in the opposite direction (the so called



Figure 16: A sequence of phase transitions proposed for an increasing field applied along the c axis in SrHo₂O₄ and SrEr₂O₄. The corresponding numbers for magnetization of the blue sublattice are 0, 1/3, and 1. $J_{02} > 0$. If $J_{02} < 0$, then there is a direct transition from phase 13 to phase 3^{*}.

up-up-down, uud, structure) [40, 41]. Overall magnetization data are consistent with the Ising behavior in these three $SrRE_2O_4$ compounds. The two magnetic sites have their magnetization easy-axes aligned along (or very near) the two crystallographic axes, while when the field is applied along the third crystallographic axis, the measured magnetization is significantly lower (particularly for Ho and Er compounds [7]) suggesting that it is a hard magnetization axis for both sites.

Apart from the magnetization data, the evidence for a field-induced *uud* structure comes from the results of neutron diffraction for SrDy_2O_4 [12,13], SrHo_2O_4 [14], SrEr_2O_4 [42] and BaDy_2O_4 [15]. The *uud* structures are characterized by the appearance of the sharp, almost resolution-limited magnetic peaks at non-integer positions. In SrHo_2O_4 , the observed peaks are at the $(h0\frac{1}{3})$, $(h0\frac{2}{3})$ and symmetry related positions [14], in SrDy_2O_4 , they are indexed by the propagation vector $\mathbf{k}' = [0 \ \frac{1}{3} \ \frac{1}{3}]$ [12,13] and in BaDy_2O_4 , the propagation vector is $\mathbf{k}' = [0 \ 0 \ \frac{1}{3}]$ [15].

Let us consider the case of a field induced 1/3 magnetization plateau – the field applied along the easy-magnetization direction for the RE2 site, *a* axis in SrEr₂O₄ and *b* axis in SrHo₂O₄ (see Fig. 15). The high-field phase with all the spins on the RE2 sites polarized along the field direction is phase 4. The experimentally determined *uud* structure is phase 15 (see Table 2 and Fig. 3). However, it follows from our study that regions 13 and 15 as well as regions 4 and 15 have no common 6-face. Therefore some intermediate phases should exist between them. These are probably phases 23 and $\tilde{6}$ ($\tilde{23}$ and 6 if $J_2 > 0$) (see Fig. 15). Indeed the latest low-temperature magnetization and neutron diffraction measurements [42] indicated the presence of the additional intermediate phase(s) between zero-field and 1/3 magnetization plateau structures in SrEr₂O₄.

For $H \parallel b$ in SrDy₂O₄, the situation should be somewhat similar, but the low-field transition is from a disordered state and therefore difficult to describe within the framework of our theory. The transition from the field-induced *uud* structure into a fully polarized state should, however also involve an intermediate phase. For $H \parallel b$ in SrDy₂O₄, the zero-field phase is the disordered phase 14. There are several possibilities for the field-induced *uud* phase from phase 14 (see Appendix B and Fig. 14). The transition from the *uud* structure into a fully polarized state should also involve an intermediate phase.

A very interesting case is found in BaDy₂O₄. Its low temperature ($T < T_{\rm N} = 0.48$ K) zero-field structure is characterized by two half-integer propagation vectors, $\mathbf{k}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix}$ and $\mathbf{k}_2 = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix}$ [6], suggesting stabilization of a significantly different ground state compared to SrEr₂O₄, SrHo₂O₄, and SrDy₂O₄. An in-field behaviour, however, seems to be rather similar, as a *uud* structure is again inferred from powder neutron diffraction measurements and from a pronounced plateau in the magnetization curve [15]. The *uud*

structure appears to be much more stable than the zero field states, as it survives warming to the three times higher temperature than the $T_N(H = 0)$. Remarkably, the field-induced magnetic structure depicted in Fig. 7 of Ref. [15] contains the triangles with all 3 magnetic moments pointing in the same direction (the ladders with *uuuudd* structure). This structure cannot be energetically favorable if only non-interacting zigzag ladders are considered, but present in our model (structures 7 or 10). Unfortunately, finding any further intermediate magnetic states in BaDy₂O₄ is experimentally challenging in the absence of large single crystal samples of this compound.

Let us conclude this section by considering the case of a field applied along the c axis (direction of the chains of the magnetic atoms). For this geometry, magnetization data for $SrHo_2O_4$ and $SrEr_2O_4$ suggest a single phase transition to a state with a full polarization of a site for which the easy-magnetization direction coincides with the c axis. In the language of this paper, the transition is from a zero-field phase 13 to phase 3^* where all spins on one of the magnetic sites are parallel to the field while the other site remains the same as in zero-field. The proposal is that with increasing field, structure 11^* is stabilized between phases 13 and 3^* (see Fig. 16), although a direct transition between these phases is also possible.

4 Conclusions

We present a solution to the ground-state problem for an Ising model in an external field for a honeycomb zigzag-ladder lattice with two different types of magnetic sites. Although the solution is incomplete, the presence of a variety of ground-states is proved and, for several phases, the corresponding regions in seven-dimensional parameter space are completely determined. Some of these phases are ordered but the majority are disordered with the disorder being one, two, or even three-dimensional.

The solution is used to explain the formation of experimentally determined spin arrangements in honeycomb zigzag-ladder magnets $SrRE_2O_4$ and $BaRE_2O_4$ in an applied magnetic field. In particularly for $SrEr_2O_4$ and $BaDy_2O_4$, the solution predicts new magnetic phases (with two different types of magnetic configurations on the same ladder), recently found or yet to be detected experimentally.

Since the set of basic rays that we found here is incomplete, we hope that the paper will inspire further efforts to find the remaining basic rays and to establish a complete set for this very interesting and complex ground-state problem.

Acknowledgment

Yu. D. acknowledges a research grant presented by the Max Planck Institute for the Physics of Complex Systems.

A Appendix: Energy of triangular plaquette configurations

Here we present the energies for all the six configurations, $\overset{\circ}{\circ}_{\circ}, \overset{\circ}{\circ}_{\circ}, \overset{\circ}{\circ}, \overset{\circ}{\circ$

$$e_{11} = (1 - \alpha_1)J_{01} + J_{11} + [(1 - \eta_1)\gamma_1 + (1 - \delta_1)(1 - \gamma_1)]h_1,$$

$$e_{12} = -(1 - \alpha_1)J_{01} + (1 - \delta_1)(1 - \gamma_1)h_1,$$

$$e_{13} = (1 - \alpha_1)J_{01} - J_{11} + [(1 - \eta_1)\gamma_1 - (1 - \delta_1)(1 - \gamma_1)]h_1,$$

$$e_{14} = (1 - \alpha_1)J_{01} - J_{11} - [(1 - \eta_1)\gamma_1 - (1 - \delta_1)(1 - \gamma_1)]h_1,$$

$$e_{15} = -(1 - \alpha_1)J_{01} - (1 - \delta_1)(1 - \gamma_1)h_1,$$

$$e_{16} = (1 - \alpha_1)J_{01} + J_{11} - [(1 - \eta_1)\gamma_1 + (1 - \delta_1)(1 - \gamma_1)]h_1;$$

(8)

$$e_{21} = (1 - \alpha_2)J_{02} + J_{12} + [(1 - \eta_2)\gamma_2 + (1 - \delta_2)(1 - \gamma_2)]h_2,$$

$$e_{22} = -(1 - \alpha_2)J_{02} + (1 - \delta_2)(1 - \gamma_2)h_2,$$

$$e_{23} = (1 - \alpha_2)J_{02} - J_{12} + [(1 - \eta_2)\gamma_2 - (1 - \delta_2)(1 - \gamma_2)]h_2,$$

$$e_{24} = (1 - \alpha_2)J_{02} - J_{12} - [(1 - \eta_2)\gamma_2 - (1 - \delta_2)(1 - \gamma_2)]h_2,$$

$$e_{25} = -(1 - \alpha_2)J_{02} - (1 - \delta_2)(1 - \gamma_2)h_2,$$

$$e_{26} = (1 - \alpha_2)J_{02} + J_{12} - [(1 - \eta_2)\gamma_2 + (1 - \delta_2)(1 - \gamma_2)]h_2;$$
 (9)

$$e_{31} = \frac{\alpha_1}{2} J_{01} + 2(1-\beta) J_2 + \eta_1 \frac{\gamma_1}{2} h_1 + \delta_2 \frac{(1-\gamma_2)}{2} h_2,$$

$$e_{32} = -\frac{\alpha_1}{2} J_{01} + \delta_2 \frac{(1-\gamma_2)}{2} h_2,$$

$$e_{33} = \frac{\alpha_1}{2} J_{01} - 2(1-\beta) J_2 + \eta_1 \frac{\gamma_1}{2} h_1 - \delta_2 \frac{(1-\gamma_2)}{2} h_2,$$

$$e_{34} = \frac{\alpha_1}{2} J_{01} - 2(1-\beta) J_2 - \eta_1 \frac{\gamma_1}{2} h_1 + \delta_2 \frac{(1-\gamma_2)}{2} h_2,$$

$$e_{35} = -\frac{\alpha_1}{2} J_{01} - \delta_2 \frac{(1-\gamma_2)}{2} h_2,$$

$$e_{36} = \frac{\alpha_1}{2} J_{01} + 2(1-\beta) J_2 - \eta_1 \frac{\gamma_1}{2} h_1 - \delta_2 \frac{(1-\gamma_2)}{2} h_2;$$
(10)

$$e_{41} = \frac{\alpha_2}{2} J_{02} + 2\beta J_2 + \delta_1 \frac{(1-\gamma_1)}{2} h_1 + \eta_2 \frac{\gamma_2}{2} h_2,$$

$$e_{42} = -\frac{\alpha_2}{2} J_{02} + \delta_1 \frac{(1-\gamma_1)}{2} h_1,$$

$$e_{43} = \frac{\alpha_2}{2} J_{02} - 2\beta J_2 - \delta_1 \frac{(1-\gamma_1)}{2} h_1 + \eta_2 \frac{\gamma_2}{2} h_2,$$

$$e_{44} = \frac{\alpha_2}{2} J_{02} - 2\beta J_2 + \delta_1 \frac{(1-\gamma_1)}{2} h_1 - \eta_2 \frac{\gamma_2}{2} h_2,$$

$$e_{45} = -\frac{\alpha_2}{2} J_{02} - \delta_1 \frac{(1-\gamma_1)}{2} h_1,$$

$$e_{46} = \frac{\alpha_2}{2} J_{02} + 2\beta J_2 - \delta_1 \frac{(1-\gamma_1)}{2} h_1 - \eta_2 \frac{\gamma_2}{2} h_2.$$
(11)

 •, •, •, and • (see Table 2), relative numbers of which in these structures are 3, 1, 2, 2, 4, 4, and 2, respectively. Hence, the energy (per six plaquettes) of structures 2 is

$$e_{2} = \frac{1}{3}(3e_{16} + e_{24} + 2e_{25} + 2e_{34} + 4e_{36} + 4e_{45} + 2e_{46})$$

= $\frac{1}{3}(3J_{01} - J_{02} + 3J_{11} - J_{12} + 4J_{2} - 3h_{1} - h_{2}).$ (12)

It should be noted that this energy does not depend on free coefficients although e_{ij} do depend on these. The magnetization of the red sublattice (per one red site) is equal to $3 \cdot 1/3 = 1$, for the blue sublattice, it is equal to 1/3.

Let us show how to find conditions for the existence of a region in the (h_1, h_2) -plane, for instance, region 4. This region is determined with the set of basic rays $\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_1^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_6, \mathbf{r}_6^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_6^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_6^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_7, \mathbf{r}_7^{\star}\}$.

From the equation

$$a_{1}\mathbf{r}_{1} + a_{1}^{\star}\mathbf{r}_{1}^{\star} + a_{2}\mathbf{r}_{2} + a_{3}^{\star}\mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star} + a_{5}\mathbf{r}_{5} + a_{6}\mathbf{r}_{6} + a_{6}^{\star}\mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star} + a_{6}^{\star-}\mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star-} + a_{7}\mathbf{r}_{7} + a_{7}^{\sim}\mathbf{r}_{7}^{\sim}$$

= $(J_{01}, J_{02}, J_{11}, J_{12}, J_{2}, h_{1}, h_{2})$ (13)

we have

$$a_{1} = a_{2} + a_{5} - J_{01}, \ a_{1}^{\star} = a_{3}^{\star} - J_{02},$$

$$a_{6} = 2a_{2} + J_{11}, \ a_{6}^{\star -} = -2a_{3}^{\star} - a_{6}^{\star} + J_{12}, \ a_{7} = a_{7}^{\sim} + J_{2},$$

$$h_{1} = 4a_{2} + 2a_{5} + 8a_{7}^{\sim} + 2J_{11} + 4J_{2}, \ h_{2} = 4a_{3}^{\star} + 4a_{6}^{\star} - 2J_{12} + 4J_{2}.$$
 (14)

All the coefficients a should be nonnegative, therefore, we obtain

$$J_{12} > 0, \quad -2J_{02} + J_{12} > 0. \tag{15}$$

These inequalities are the conditions for the existence of region 4 in h_1 , h_2 -plain at fixed J_{01} , J_{02} , J_{11} J_{12} , and J_2 . For h_1 and h_2 of region 4 we have,

$$\begin{aligned} h_1 &> 2J_{11} + 4|J_2| & \text{if } J_{01} < 0, \\ h_1 &> 2J_{01} + J_{11} + 4|J_2| & \text{if } J_{01} > 0, \ J_{11} < 0, \\ h_1 &> 2J_{01} + 2J_{11} + 4|J_2| & \text{if } J_{01} > 0, \ J_{11} > 0, \\ -2J_{12} + 4J_2 < h_2 < 2J_{12} + 4J_2 & \text{if } J_{02} < 0, \\ 4J_{02} - 2J_{12} + 4J_2 < h_2 < -4J_{02} + 2J_{12} & \text{if } J_{02} > 0. \end{aligned}$$
(16)

B Appendix: Completeness of sets of basic rays

Considering a set of basic rays (vectors) for a fully dimensional phase (see Table 2), we can check whether this set is complete. All linear combinations with nonnegative coefficients of the basic rays form a seven-dimensional polyhedral cone (see Subsection 2.1). First, we should find all the six-dimensional faces (6-faces) of the polyhedral cone and the configurations of triangular plaquettes for these 6-faces. As an example, let us consider phase 13. The set of basic vectors for this phase is $\{\mathbf{r}_1^*, \mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_3^*, \mathbf{r}_4, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^{-}, \mathbf{r}_6^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_6^{\star-}\}$. The sets of basic vectors for its 6-faces (enumerated from 1 to 12) and corresponding sets of plaquette configurations are given below. For each 6-face the corresponding neighboring phase is indicated in parentheses on the right.

(1) { $\mathbf{r}_{1}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{2}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{4}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{-}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star}$ }, (3 [*] , 13)	(7) { $\mathbf{r}_{1}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{2}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star-}$ }, (22, 13)
	$\circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ$
(2) { $\mathbf{r}_{1}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{2}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{4}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{-}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star-}$ }, ($\overline{3}^{\star}, 13$)	(8) { $\mathbf{r}_1^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4, \mathbf{r}_5^-, \mathbf{r}_6^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_6^{\star-}$ }, ($\overline{\widetilde{22}}, 13$)
	$\stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \ \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \ \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\mathrel}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} $ \circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} } \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} } \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} } \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\mathrel} } \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\mathrel} } \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\mathrel} } \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\mathrel} } \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\mathrel}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\mathrel}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} } \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\mathrel}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\mathrel}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\mathrel}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\mathrel}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\mathrel}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\mathrel}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\mathrel}} } \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\mathrel}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\mathrel}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\mathrel}} }
(3) { $\mathbf{r}_{2}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{-}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star}$ }, (11 [*] , 13)	(9) { $\mathbf{r}_{1}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star-}$ }, (23, 13)
	$\circ \bullet \bullet \circ \bullet \parallel \circ \circ \bullet \bullet \parallel \circ \bullet \circ \bullet \bullet \parallel \circ \circ \circ \circ$
(4) { $\mathbf{r}_{2}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{-}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star-}$ }, (11 [*] , 13)	(10) { $\mathbf{r}_{1}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{-}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star-}$ }, ($\overline{23}, 13$)
$\begin{array}{c c} \circ & \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \circ & \circ & \bullet & 0 & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \circ & \circ & \bullet & 0 & \circ & \bullet & 0 \\ \end{array}$	$\circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \parallel \circ \circ \circ \parallel \circ \circ \circ \circ \circ \parallel \circ \circ \circ \circ$
(5) $\{\mathbf{r}_1^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_6^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_6^{\star-}\}, (22, 13)$	(11) { $\mathbf{r}_{1}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star-}$ }, (23,13)
	$\circ \bullet \circ \circ \bullet \parallel \circ \circ \bullet \parallel \circ \bullet \circ \circ \bullet \parallel \circ \circ \circ \circ $
(6) $\{\mathbf{r}_{1}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{2}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{-}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star-}\}, (\overline{22}, 13)$	(12) { $\mathbf{r}_{1}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{-}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{\star-}$ }, ($\widetilde{23}, 13$)
$\stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}$	$\circ \circ $

In the 6-faces (1) to (4), in addition to the structures 13, there are other structures that we have previously identified. This means that these 6-faces indeed bound the region for phase 13. The remaining eight 6-faces, (5) to (12), also bound this region, since, in addition to structures 13, some new structures can be constructed for these 6-faces. The structures (among these new ones) containing the greatest number of plaquette configurations which are absent in structures 13 [configuration \bullet and \bullet for the 6-face (5); configurations \bullet and \bullet for the 6-face (9)] are the structures of fully dimensional phases whose regions have common boundaries with region 13. These structures are shown in Fig. 9 and we have therefore found the complete set of basic vectors for phase 13.

The complete sets of basic vectors are also found for phases 4 ({ $\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_1^*, \mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3^*, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_6$, $\mathbf{r}_6^*, \mathbf{r}_6^{-}, \mathbf{r}_7, \mathbf{r}_7^{-}$ }), 11 ({ $\mathbf{r}_2^*, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_3^*, \mathbf{r}_4^*, \mathbf{r}_5^{-}, \mathbf{r}_5^*, \mathbf{r}_5^{-}, \mathbf{r}_6$ }), and 14 ({ $\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_2^*, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_3^*, \mathbf{r}_4, \mathbf{r}_4^{-}, \mathbf{r}_4^*, \mathbf{r}_4^{-*}, \mathbf{r}_5^*, \mathbf{r}_5^{-}, \mathbf{r}_5^*$ }). For the rest of the phases the sets of basic vectors are incomplete. Consider, for instance, phase 10. Its set of basic vectors, { $\mathbf{r}_2^*, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4^-, \mathbf{r}_4^{-*}, \mathbf{r}_5^*, \mathbf{r}_6^-$ }, is incomplete. The sets of basic vectors for the 6-faces of the corresponding polyhedral cone and sets of plaquette configurations are as follows



6-face (6) gives a new phase, "nontriangular" phase 20 (Fig. 9). 6-face (7) of the polyhedral cone is not a 6-face between two fully dimensional phase regions because, with the corresponding set of triangular configurations, it is not possible to construct any structure different from structures 10 (although it is possible to construct a new configuration of a "hexagonal tube"). Therefore the set of basic vectors for phase 10 is incomplete.

..

•

•

•••

Here we give the complete sets of basic vectors for phases 4, 11, and 14, their 6-faces and corresponding sets of plaquette configurations. For each 6-face the neighboring phase is indicated in parentheses on the right.

 $\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_1^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_6, \mathbf{r}_6^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_6^{\star-}, \mathbf{r}_7, \mathbf{r}_7^{\sim}\}$ Phase 4

 $\{\mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star-}, \mathbf{r}_{6}\}, \quad (\widetilde{8}, 11)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_{2}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star-}, \mathbf{r}_{6}^{-}\}, \quad (13^{\star}, 11)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{6}\}, \quad (9, 11) \qquad \{\mathbf{r}_{2}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star-}\}, \quad (14, 11)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star-}, \mathbf{r}_{6}\}, \quad (\widetilde{9}, 11)$

```
\{\mathbf{r}_{2}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{6}\}, \quad (21, 11)
```

```
\{\mathbf{r}_{2}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star \star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star -}, \mathbf{r}_{6}\}, \quad (\widetilde{21}, 11)
```

Phase 14 $\{\mathbf{r}_{2}, \mathbf{r}_{2}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\sim\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{-}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star-}\}$

 $\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_2^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim \star}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star}\}, (1, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_2^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim\star}, \mathbf{r}_5^{-}, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star-}\}, (\bar{1}, 14)$ $\begin{smallmatrix} \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \end{smallmatrix} \| \begin{smallmatrix} \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \bullet \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ \\ \bullet & \circ & \circ & \circ & \circ &$

 $\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_2^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4, \mathbf{r}_4^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star-}\}, (\widetilde{1}, 14)$ $\stackrel{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}{}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}{}} \parallel \stackrel{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}{}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}{}} \parallel \stackrel{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}{}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}} \stackrel{\bullet}{} \stackrel{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}} \stackrel{\bullet}{} \stackrel{\bullet}{\overset{\bullet}} \stackrel{\bullet}{} \stackrel{\bullet}{\phantom{\bullet$ $\{\mathbf{r}_{2}, \mathbf{r}_{2}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{-}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}\}, (\overline{\tilde{1}}, 14)$

 $\{\mathbf{r}_{2}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{-}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star-}\}, (\overline{10}, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_{2},\mathbf{r}_{2}^{\star},\mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star},\mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star},\mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star},\mathbf{r}_{5},\mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star},\mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star-}\},\ (3,14)$ $\overset{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\bullet}}\overset{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\bullet}}\overset{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\bullet}}\parallel\overset{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}}\overset{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\bullet}}\overset{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\bullet}}\parallel\overset{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}}\overset{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\bullet}}\overset{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\bullet}}\overset{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\bullet}}\parallel\overset{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}}\overset{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\bullet}}\overset{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\bullet}}$ $\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim \star}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star}\}, (10^{\star}, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_{2}, \mathbf{r}_{2}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{-}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star-}\}, (\overline{3}, 14)$ $\stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}}}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}}}} \| \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}}}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}}}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}}}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}}}} \| \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}}}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}}}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}}}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}}}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}}}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}}}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}}}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}}}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\overset{\circ}}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}} \overset{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}} \overset{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}} \overset{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}} \overset{\bullet}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}} \overset{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}} \overset{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}} \overset{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}} \overset{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}} \overset{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}} \overset{\bullet}}{\underset{\circ}} \overset{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}} \overset{\bullet}} \overset{\bullet} \overset{\bullet}} \overset{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}} \overset{\bullet}$ $\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_2^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^{-}, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star}\}, (3^{\star}, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim\star}, \mathbf{r}_5^{-}, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star-}\}, (\overline{10^{\star}}, 14)$ $\stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \parallel \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \parallel \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \parallel \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \parallel \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \parallel \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\bullet}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} } \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} } \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ}} \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} } \stackrel{\circ}{\mathrel}$ } \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} } \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} } \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} } \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} } \stackrel{\circ}{\underset{\circ}{\circ} $\{\mathbf{r}_{2}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{4}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star-}\}, (\widetilde{10}, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_2^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^{-}, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star-}\}, (\overline{3}^{\star}, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_{2}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{4}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{-}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}\}, (10, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_2^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4, \mathbf{r}_4^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star}\}, (7, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4, \mathbf{r}_4^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star-}\}, (^{\star}\widetilde{10}, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_2^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4, \mathbf{r}_4^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_5^{-}, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star-}\}, (\bar{7}, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_2^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim \star}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star -}\}, \quad (\tilde{7}, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4, \mathbf{r}_4^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_5^{-}, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star}\}, (\star 10, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_{2}, \mathbf{r}_{2}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{-}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}\}, (\widetilde{7}, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_{2}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star-}\}, (11, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_{2}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{-}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star-}\}, (\overline{11}, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4, \mathbf{r}_4^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star}\}, (8, 14)$ { $\mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4, \mathbf{r}_4^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_5^{-}, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star-}$ }, ($\bar{8}, 14$) $\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^{-}, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star}\}, (11^{\star}, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_3,\mathbf{r}_3^{\star},\mathbf{r}_4^{\sim},\mathbf{r}_4^{\sim\star},\mathbf{r}_5,\mathbf{r}_5^{\star-}\},\quad (\widetilde{8},14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^{-}, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star-}\}, (\overline{11}^{\star}, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim\star}, \mathbf{r}_5^{-}, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star}\}, \quad (\tilde{8}, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_{2}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{4}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}\}, (24, 14)$ $\overset{\circ}{\underset{\bullet}{\bullet}}\overset{\circ}{\underset{\bullet}{\bullet}}\overset{\bullet}{\underset{\bullet}{\bullet}}\parallel\overset{\circ}{\underset{\bullet}{\bullet}}\overset{\bullet}{\underset{\bullet}{\bullet}}\overset{\bullet}{\underset{\bullet}{\bullet}}\parallel\overset{\circ}{\underset{\bullet}{\bullet}}\overset{\circ}{\underset{\bullet}{\bullet}}\overset{\bullet}{\underset{\bullet}{\bullet}}\overset{\bullet}{\underset{\bullet}{\bullet}}\parallel\overset{\circ}{\underset{\bullet}{\bullet}}\overset{\circ}{\underset{\bullet}{\bullet}}\overset{\bullet}{\underset{\bullet}{\bullet}}$ $\{\mathbf{r}_{2}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{4}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{-}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star-}\}, (\overline{24}, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim \star}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star}\}, (9, 14)$ $\begin{array}{c} \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \end{array} \| \begin{array}{c} \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \end{array} \| \begin{array}{c} \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \end{array} \| \begin{array}{c} \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \end{array} \| \begin{array}{c} \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \end{array} \| \begin{array}{c} \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \end{array} \| \begin{array}{c} \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \end{array} \| \begin{array}{c} \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \end{array} \| \begin{array}{c} \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \end{array} \| \begin{array}{c} \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \end{array} \| \begin{array}{c} \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet \\ \bullet \\ \bullet \\ \bullet \bullet \\ \bullet$ $\{\mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim \star}, \mathbf{r}_5^{-}, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star -}\}, (\bar{9}, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4, \mathbf{r}_4^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star}\}, (24^{\star}, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_3^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_4, \mathbf{r}_4^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_5, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star-}\}, \quad (\tilde{9}, 14)$ { $\mathbf{r}_{2}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{-}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star-}$ }, ($\overline{24}^{\star}, 14$) $\{\mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{-}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}\}, (\overline{\widetilde{9}}, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_{2}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star-}\}, (\widetilde{24}, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_2^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_4^{\sim\star}, \mathbf{r}_5^{-}, \mathbf{r}_5^{\star}\}, (\overline{24}, 14)$ $\{\mathbf{r}_{2}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{3}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim \star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}\}, (10, 14)$

 $\{\mathbf{r}_{2}, \mathbf{r}_{3}^{\star}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim}, \mathbf{r}_{4}^{\sim\star}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{-}, \mathbf{r}_{5}^{\star}\}, \quad (\star \widetilde{24}, 14)$

References

- [1] H. Karunadasa, Q. Huang, B. G. Ueland, J. W. Lynn, P. Schiffer, K. A. Regan and R. J. Cava, *Honeycombs of triangles and magnetic frustration in* SrL_2O_4 (L = Gd, Dy, Ho, Er, Tm, and Yb), Phys. Rev. B **71**, 144414 (2005), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.71.144414.
- [2] O. A. Petrenko, Low-temperature magnetism in the honeycomb systems SrLn₂O₄ (Review Article), Low Temp. Phys. 40, 106 (2014), doi:10.1063/1.4865556.
- [3] Y. Doi, W. Nakamori and Y. Hinatsu, Crystal structures and magnetic properties of magnetically frustrated systems BaLn₂O₄ and Ba₃Ln₄O₉ (Ln = lanthanide), Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter 18(1), 333 (2005), doi:10.1088/0953-8984/18/1/024.
- [4] T. Besara, M. S. Lundberg, J. Sun, D. Ramirez, L. Dong, J. B. Whalen, R. Vasquez, F. Herrera, J. R. Allen, M. W. Davidson and T. Siegrist, *Single crystal synthesis and magnetism of the* BaLn₂O₄ *family* (Ln=*lanthanide*), Prog. Solid State Ch. 42(3), 23 (2014), doi:10.1016/j.progsolidstchem.2014.05.001.
- [5] A. A. Aczel, L. Li, V. O. Garlea, J.-Q. Yan, F. Weickert, V. S. Zapf, R. Movshovich, M. Jaime, P. J. Baker, V. Keppens and D. Mandrus, *Spin-liquid ground state in the frustrated* J₁-J₂ zigzag chain system BaTb₂O₄, Phys. Rev. B **92**, 041110 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.92.041110.
- [6] B. Prévost, N. Gauthier, V. Y. Pomjakushin, B. Delley, H. C. Walker, M. Kenzelmann and A. D. Bianchi, Coexistence of magnetic fluctuations and long-range order in the one-dimensional J₁-J₂ zigzag chain materials BaDy₂O₄ and BaHo₂O₄, Phys. Rev. B 98, 144428 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.98.144428.
- [7] T. J. Hayes, O. Young, G. Balakrishnan and O. A. Petrenko, Magnetisation studies of geometrically frustrated antiferromagnets SrLn₂O₄, with Ln = Er, Dy, and Ho, J. Phys. Soc. Japan 81, 024708 (2012).
- [8] T. H. Cheffings, M. R. Lees, G. Balakrishnan and O. A. Petrenko, *Magnetic field-induced ordering in* SrDy₂O₄, J. Phys.: Condens. Matter **25**, 256001 (2013), doi:10.1088/0953-8984/25/25/256001.
- [9] O. Young, G. Balakrishnan, M. R. Lees and O. A. Petrenko, Magnetic properties of geometrically frustrated SrGd₂O₄, Phys. Rev. B **90**, 094421 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.90.094421.
- [10] A. A. Aczel, L. Li, V. O. Garlea, J.-Q. Yan, F. Weickert, M. Jaime, B. Maiorov, R. Movshovich, L. Civale, V. Keppens and D. Mandrus, *Magnetic ordering in the frustrated* J₁ - J₂ *Ising chain candidate* BaNd₂O₄, Phys. Rev. B **90**, 134403 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.90.134403.
- [11] C. Bidaud, O. Simard, G. Quirion, B. Prévost, S. Daneau, A. D. Bianchi,
 H. A. Dabkowska and J. A. Quilliam, *Dimensionality and irreversibility*

of field-induced transitions in $SrDy_2O_4$, Phys. Rev. B **93**, 060404 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.93.060404.

- [12] O. A. Petrenko, O. Young, D. Brunt, G. Balakrishnan, P. Manuel, D. D. Khalyavin and C. Ritter, *Evolution of spin correlations in* SrDy₂O₄ *in an applied magnetic field*, Phys. Rev. B **95**, 104442 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.95.104442.
- [13] N. Gauthier, A. Fennell, B. Prévost, A.-C. Uldry, B. Delley, R. Sibille, A. Désilets-Benoit, H. A. Dabkowska, G. J. Nilsen, L.-P. Regnault, J. S. White, C. Niedermayer et al., Absence of long-range order in the frustrated magnet SrDy₂O₄ due to trapped defects from a dimensionality crossover, Phys. Rev. B 95, 134430 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.95.134430.
- [14] O. Young, G. Balakrishnan, P. Manuel, D. D. Khalyavin, A. R. Wildes and O. A. Petrenko, *Field-induced transitions in highly frustrated* SrHo₂O₄, Crystals 9, 488 (2019), doi:10.3390/cryst9100488.
- [15] D. D. Khalyavin, P. Manuel, M. C. Hatnean and O. A. Petrenko, Fragile ground state and rigid field-induced structures in the zigzag ladder compound BaDy₂O₄, Phys. Rev. B 103, 134434 (2021), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.103.134434.
- [16] J. M. Luttinger and L. Tisza, Theory of dipole interaction in crystals, Phys. Rev. 70, 954 (1946), doi:10.1103/PhysRev.70.954.
- [17] J. M. Luttinger, A note on the ground state in antiferromagnetics, Phys. Rev. 81, 1015 (1951), doi:10.1103/PhysRev.81.1015.
- [18] A. Danielian, Ground state of an Ising face-centered cubic lattice, Phys. Rev. Lett. 6, 670 (1961), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.6.670.
- [19] D. Lyons and T. Kaplan, A cluster method for finding minimum energy spin states, J. Phy. Chem. Solids 25(7), 645 (1964), doi:10.1016/0022-3697(64)90174-X.
- [20] J. Kanamori, Magnetization Process in an Ising Spin System, Prog. Theor. Phys. 35(1), 16 (1966), doi:10.1143/PTP.35.16.
- [21] M. Kaburagi and J. Kanamori, Ground State Structure of Triangular Lattice Gas Model with up to 3rd Neighbor Interactions, Journal of the Physical Society of Japan 44(3), 718 (1978), doi:10.1143/JPSJ.44.718.
- [22] T. Morita, Orderings of one-dimensional Ising systems with an arbitrary interaction of finite range, Journal of Physics A: Mathematical, Nuclear and General 7(2), 289 (1974), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/7/2/014.
- [23] U. Brandt and J. Stolze, Ground states of the triangular Ising model with two-and three-spin interactions, Zeitschrift f
 ür Physik B Condensed Matter 64(4), 481 (1986), doi:10.1007/BF01312843.
- T. Kennedy, Some rigorous results on the ground states of the Falicov-Kimball model, Rev. Math. Phys. 06(05a), 901 (1994), doi:10.1142/S0129055X94000298.
- [25] T. A. Kaplan and N. Menyuk, Spin ordering in three-dimensional crystals with strong competing exchange interactions, Philosophical Magazine 87(25), 3711 (2007), doi:10.1080/14786430601080229.

- [26] L. X. Hayden, T. A. Kaplan and S. D. Mahanti, Frustrated Classical Heisenberg and XY Models in Two Dimensions with Nearest-Neighbor Biquadratic Exchange: Exact Solution for the Ground-State Phase Diagram, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, 047203 (2010), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.105.047203.
- [27] W. Huang, D. A. Kitchaev, S. T. Dacek, Z. Rong, A. Urban, S. Cao, C. Luo and G. Ceder, *Finding and proving the exact ground state of a generalized Ising* model by convex optimization and MAX-SAT, Phys. Rev. B 94, 134424 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.94.134424.
- [28] Y. I. Dublenych, Ground states of the lattice-gas model on the triangular lattice with nearest- and next-nearest-neighbor pairwise interactions and with threeparticle interaction: Full-dimensional ground states, Phys. Rev. E 84, 011106 (2011), doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.84.011106.
- [29] Y. I. Dublenych, Ground states of the lattice-gas model on the triangular lattice with nearest- and next-nearest-neighbor pairwise interactions and with three-particle interaction: Ground states at boundaries of full-dimensional regions, Phys. Rev. E 84, 061102 (2011), doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.84.061102.
- [30] Y. I. Dublenych, Continuum of ground states and aperiodic structures in a lattice gas on the triangular lattice with finite-range interactions, Phys. Rev. B 86, 014201 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.86.014201.
- [31] Y. I. Dublenych, Ground States of the Ising Model on the Shastry-Sutherland Lattice and the Origin of the Fractional Magnetization Plateaus in Rare-Earth-Metal Tetraborides, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109, 167202 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.109.167202.
- [32] Y. I. Dublenych, Ground states of the Ising model on an anisotropic triangular lattice: stripes and zigzags, Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter 25(40), 406003 (2013), doi:10.1088/0953-8984/25/40/406003.
- [33] T. Morita and T. Horiguchi, Spin orderings of the one-dimensional Ising magnet with the nearest and next nearest neighbor interaction, Physics Letters A 38(4), 223 (1972), doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0375-9601(72)90053-9.
- [34] J.-J. Wen, W. Tian, V. O. Garlea, S. M. Koohpayeh, T. M. McQueen, H.-F. Li, J.-Q. Yan, J. A. Rodriguez-Rivera, D. Vaknin and C. L. Broholm, *Disorder from order among anisotropic next-nearest-neighbor Ising spin chains in* SrHo₂O₄, Phys. Rev. B 91, 054424 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.91.054424.
- [35] B. Z. Malkin, S. I. Nikitin, I. E. Mumdzhi, D. G. Zverev, R. V. Yusupov, I. F. Gilmutdinov, R. Batulin, B. F. Gabbasov, A. G. Kiiamov, D. T. Adroja, O. Young and O. A. Petrenko, *Magnetic and spectral properties of the multisublattice oxides* SrY₂O₄ : Er³⁺ and SrEr₂O₄, Phys. Rev. B **92**, 094415 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.92.094415.
- [36] A. Fennell, V. Y. Pomjakushin, A. Uldry, B. Delley, B. Prévost, A. Désilets-Benoit, A. D. Bianchi, R. I. Bewley, B. R. Hansen, T. Klimczuk, R. J. Cava and M. Kenzelmann, *Evidence for* SrHo₂O₄ and SrDy₂O₄ as model J₁-J₂ zigzag chain materials, Phys. Rev. B 89, 224511 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.89.224511.
- [37] O. A. Petrenko, G. Balakrishnan, N. R. Wilson, S. de Brion, E. Suard and L. C. Chapon, *Low-temperature magnetic ordering in* SrEr₂O₄, Phys. Rev. B 78, 184410 (2008), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.78.184410.

- [38] T. J. Hayes, G. Balakrishnan, P. P. Deen, P. Manuel, L. C. Chapon and O. A. Petrenko, *Coexistence of the long-range and short-range magnetic order components* in SrEr₂O₄, Phys. Rev. B 84, 174435 (2011), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.84.174435.
- [39] O. Young, A. R. Wildes, P. Manuel, B. Ouladdiaf, D. D. Khalyavin, G. Balakrishnan and O. A. Petrenko, *Highly frustrated magnetism in SrHo₂O₄: Coexistence of two types of short-range order*, Phys. Rev. B 88, 024411 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.88.024411.
- [40] S. E. Korshunov, Phase diagram of the antiferromagnetic XY model with a triangular lattice in an external magnetic field, Journal of Physics C: Solid State Physics 19(29), 5927 (1986), doi:10.1088/0022-3719/19/29/014.
- [41] A. V. Chubukov and D. I. Golosov, Quantum theory of an antiferromagnet on a triangular lattice in a magnetic field, Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter 3(1), 69 (1991), doi:10.1088/0953-8984/3/1/005.
- [42] N. Qureshi, O. Fabelo, P. Manuel, D. D. Khalyavin, E. Lhotel, S. Riberolles, G. Balakrishnan and O. A. Petrenko, *Field-induced magnetic states in geometrically frustrated* SrEr₂O₄, SciPost Phys. **11**, 7 (2021), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.11.1.007.